RECEIVED

11-12-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2013AP1531-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

BRIAN S. KEMPAINEN,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DISMISSING TWO CRIMINAL COUNTS ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SHEBOYGAN COUNTY, THE HONORABLE TERENCE T. BOURKE, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Did the circuit court err in concluding that the criminal complaint in this case failed to provide defendant-respondent Brian Kempainen sufficient notice of child sexual assault charges?
 - The circuit court applied four of the seven factors identified in *State v. Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d 244, 250-51, 426 N.W.2d 91 (Ct. App. 1988) in evaluating Kempainen's motion to dismiss charges of child sexual assault of his stepdaughter LRT in 1997 and 2001. The court concluded that the several-month-long periods alleged and long gap

between the alleged crimes and complaint compelled the conclusion that the charges were not sufficiently definite, without considering the circumstances of the alleged abuse, including the facts that Kempainen was LRT's stepfather; that Kempainen had a role in discouraging the young LRT from reporting the abuse; and that LRT, despite not being able to identify a specific date, recalled specific details of the abuse and its attendant circumstances.

- 2. Alternatively, if this court concludes that the circuit court did not so err, was this court's decision in *State v. R.A.R.*, 148 Wis. 2d 408, 411, 435 N.W.2d 315 (Ct. App. 1988), wrongly decided inasmuch as it interpreted *Fawcett* to limit its seven-factor test to just four factors depending on how a defendant characterized his claim?
 - ➤ The circuit court did not expressly address this issue. However, it adopted the *R.A.R.* court's approach based on its reading of a footnote in *Fawcett* and declined to apply the first three *Fawcett* factors in its analysis.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State anticipates that the parties' briefs will provide all of the relevant law and facts necessary to resolve this matter and does not expect that oral argument will be necessary. Publication likewise is not requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The criminal complaint and underlying allegations.

In December 2012, the State filed a criminal complaint against Kempainen alleging two counts of sexual assault of a child under 13 years old in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1) (1:1; A-Ap. 101). The charges were based upon reports by Kempainen's stepdaughter, LRT, that Kempainen had sexual contact with her "on or about August 1, 1997 to December 1, 1997" when she was eight years old and "on or about March 1, 2001 to June 15, 2001" when she was 11 to 12 years old (*id.*).

According to the complaint, LRT reported to police that the first assault occurred at the beginning of the school year when she was in second grade, which she recalled specifically because that was her first year of attending school in Sheboygan after moving there (1:2; A-Ap. 102). LRT stated that she was sleeping in the family home on the living room couch late one night when Kempainen, smelling of alcohol, came into the room and laid down next to her (id.). She reported that Kempainen began rubbing her vagina through her pajamas, then took her hand, placed down his sweatpants, and used her hand to massage his penis for a few minutes (id.). LRT reported that Kempainen then moved his head between her legs and performed oral sex on her by "sticking his tongue inside her vagina" for what seemed to be "a very long time" before Kempainen passed out on the couch (id.). LRT said at that point she got up, cried, and fell asleep in a different part of the house (id.).

LRT reported that about a week after the assault, Kempainen pulled her aside and told her that he was "really drunk" on the night of the incident and that what he had done was "really bad" but asked her not to tell her mother (*id.*). According to LRT, Kempainen further told LRT that he would get in trouble if she told her mom and told LRT "I know you were bad" (*id.*).

LRT said that the second incident also occurred in the family home during her sixth-grade year while "it was warm outside" (1:2; A-Ap. 102). During that time, she was generally responsible for waking Kempainen for his 4:30 p.m. work shift (1:3; A-Ap. 103). On the day of the incident, she was lying sideways at the foot of Kempainen's bed watching television and waiting to wake him up (*id.*). She told police that Kempainen woke up on his own and began rubbing her back under her clothes before moving his hand to the front of her chest and feeling her breasts (*id.*). LRT reported that she was scared but immediately left and went to a friend's house (*id.*).

LRT did not disclose the assaults because she was afraid of her mother's reaction to both her and Kempainen (*id.*). LRT told police, however, that she did confide in two friends in the time between the assaults and her eventual disclosure to police. First, she told police that she had told a male friend, JB, of the assaults in eighth grade (1:3, 4; A-Ap. 103, 104; 33:11). Police got in touch with JB, who told the investigator that he and LRT were in eighth grade together and were having a discussion about virginity (1:4; A-Ap. 104). According to JB, LRT then told him that she had been raped or molested, but did not provide further details (*id.*).

Second, LRT stated that she told her first serious boyfriend, JRR, of the assaults while they were dating in 2012 (1:4; A-Ap. 104). According to both LRT and JRR, a consensual sexual encounter between the two triggered an emotional reaction in LRT and at that point, LRT revealed that Kempainen had sexually assaulted her (*id.*). Despite JRR's recommendations that LRT tell her mother and call the police, LRT did not disclose the abuse because she remained frightened of the consequences of reporting (1:4; A-Ap. 104).

In October 2012, months after he and LRT had ended their relationship, JRR told LRT's mother of LRT's claims of Kempainen's abuse (*id.*). LRT disclosed the abuse to her mother and police soon after (*id.*).

The motion to dismiss.

After the initial appearance, preliminary hearing, and the filing of the information, Kempainen filed a motion to dismiss the complaint for failure to provide adequate notice of the charges against him (11:1). Specifically, he claimed that the four-month time span in count one and the three-and-a-half-month time span in count two were too vague to allow him to prepare a defense (11:2).

The circuit court granted the motion to dismiss. In so doing, it applied only four of the seven factors that this court in *Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d at 253, identified as relevant considerations as to the sufficiency of a complaint (32:12; A-Ap. 113):

- As for the length of time between the offense and charge, the court noted that the charges involved two incidents within two broad periods of time, but that the victim was eight at the time of one charge and eleven at the time of the other, which in the court's view did not support either side (32:15-16; A-Ap. 116-17).
- As for the passage of time between (a) the alleged crimes and the arrest and (b) the alleged crimes and the indictment, the court found that the passage of time of approximately fifteen and twelve years between the alleged incidents and the charges weighed in favor of Kempainen (32:16-17; A-Ap. 117-18).
- As for the ability of the victim to particularize the date and time of the crimes, the court found that LRT's particularization of count one occurring "around the start of school" in 1997 was indefinite but did not favor either side (32:20; A-Ap. 121). However, her failure to particularize count two beyond a time when Kempainen was getting ready

to go to work over a three-and-a-half-month period was not sufficiently definite (*id.*).

Accordingly, the court concluded that based on those determinations, the complaint was not sufficiently definite as to either count and dismissed the case (32:21; A-Ap. 122). This State's appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE COMPLAINT WAS NOT SUFFICIENTLY DEFINITE.

Here, the circuit court's application of four of the seven factors from *Fawcett* was too limited given the *Fawcett* court's requirement that courts take a flexible approach to evaluating complaints in which the victim is a young child. Accordingly, the circuit court erred in dismissing the complaint.

A. This court independently reviews questions of whether a pleading is sufficient.

The sufficiency of a pleading is a question of law that this court reviews independently. *Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d at 250. Whether a deprivation of a constitutional right has occurred is a question of constitutional fact that also is independently reviewed. *Id.* Whether a period of time alleged in a complaint and information is too indefinite to allow the defendant to prepare an adequate defense is an issue of constitutional fact that is reviewed independently of the circuit court's determination. *Id.* at 249.

B. Fawcett requires a more flexible approach to sufficiency-of-the-complaint issues in cases in which a child alleges sexual assault.

To determine whether a complaint is sufficient, courts apply a two-prong test: *First*, "whether the accusation is such that the defendant [can] determine whether it states an offense to which he [is able to] plead and prepare a defense"; and *second*, "whether conviction or acquittal is a bar to another prosecution for the same offense." *Holesome v. State*, 40 Wis. 2d 95, 102, 161 N.W.2d 283 (1968).

In *Fawcett*, this court identified seven factors that are helpful in evaluating the complaint and determining whether the first prong of the *Holesome* test is satisfied:

- (1) the age and intelligence of the victim and other witnesses;
- (2) the surrounding circumstances;
- (3) the nature of the offense, including whether it is likely to occur at a specific time or is likely to have been discovered immediately;
- (4) the length of the alleged period of time in relation to the number of individual criminal acts alleged;
- (5) the passage of time between the alleged period for the crime and the defendant's arrest;
- (6) the duration between the date of the indictment and the alleged offense; and
- (7) the ability of the victim or complaining witness to particularize the date and time of the alleged transaction or offense.

Fawcett, 145 Wis. 2d at 253.

When the date of the commission of the crime is not a material element of the offense charged, it need not be precisely alleged. *Id.* at 250. Time is not of the essence in sexual assault cases. *Id.*

The charges in this case involve acts of sexual assault of a child (1:1; A-Ap. 101). This court in *Fawcett* explained the inherent difficulties of prosecuting sexual assaults of children:

Sexual abuse and sexual assaults of children are difficult crimes to detect and prosecute. Often there are no witnesses except the victim. The child may have been assaulted by a trusted relative or friend and not know who to turn to for assistance and consolation. The child may have been threatened and told not to tell anyone. Even absent a threat, the child might harbor a natural reluctance to reveal information regarding the assault. These circumstances many times serve to deter a child from coming forth immediately. As a result, exactness as to the events fades in memory.

145 Wis. 2d at 249 (citation omitted).

Moreover, this court observed, "child molestation is not an offense [that] lends itself to immediate discovery. Revelation usually depends upon the ultimate willingness of the child to come forward." *Id.* at 254. Thus, in cases involving a child victim, "a more flexible application of notice requirements is required and permitted." *Id.* "The vagaries of a child's memory more properly go to the credibility of the witness and the weight of the testimony," this court held, "rather than to the legality of the prosecution in the first instance." *Id.* "Such circumstances ought not prevent the prosecution of one alleged to have committed the act." *Id.*

C. *R.A.R.* interpreted *Fawcett* to limit courts' consideration of factors depending on the specific allegations.

The *Fawcett* court adopted its seven-factor "reasonableness" test primarily from a New York case, *People v. Morris*, 461 N.E.2d 1256, 1260 (N.Y. 1984). In identifying that case, the *Fawcett* court explained how the *Morris* court developed its reasonableness test. A portion of that explanation follows:

[A] defendant may contend that the prosecutor is able but has failed to obtain more specific information due to a lack of diligent investigatory efforts. [Morris, 473 N.E.2d at 1260] This inquiry also embraces good faith. Id. In evaluating the possibility that a more specific date could have been obtained through diligent efforts, the court may look to the following factors to determine whether a more specific date could have been alleged: (1) the age and intelligence of the victim and other witnesses; (2) the surrounding circumstances; and (3) the nature of the offense, including whether it is likely to occur at a specific time or is likely to have been discovered immediately. Id.

If after this exercise the state is found to have exerted diligent investigatory efforts, the charging document should then be examined to determine whether, under the circumstances, the designated period of time set forth is reasonable. *Id.* Factors relevant to this determination include but are not limited to:

the length of the alleged period of time in relation to the number of individual criminal acts alleged; the passage of time between the alleged period for the crime and the defendant's arrest; the duration between the date of the indictment and the alleged offense; and the ability of the victim or complaining witness to particularize the date and time of the alleged transaction or offense.

Id.

Fawcett, 145 Wis. 2d at 251 n.2.

Subsequently, in *R.A.R.*, this court understood that footnote in *Fawcett* to instruct that "the first three factors [in *Fawcett*] apply [only] when the defendant claims that the state could have obtained a more definite date through diligent efforts." 148 Wis. 2d at 411 (citing *Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d at 251 n.2).

Here, the circuit court likewise read footnote two in *Fawcett* to limit its inquiry into the sufficiency of the complaint only to the final four factors, given that Kempainen did not specifically allege that the State could have obtained a more definite date through diligence (32:12; A-Ap. 113).

D. The circuit court's application of the *Fawcett* factors to the facts of this case was too limited.

A flexible application of *Fawcett* factors four through seven demonstrates that the complaint provided Kempainen with sufficient notice.

1. As for count one, LRT's allegations of sexual assault over a four-month period in 1997 are sufficient.

The fourth factor requires an evaluation of the length of the alleged period of time in relation to the number of criminal acts alleged. *Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d at 253. Count one alleged one act within a four-month period that LRT recalled to occur in the beginning of her second-grade school year. This court has found that similar period-to-act ratios favored a finding of reasonableness. *See, e.g., Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d at 254 (two alleged acts within six-month period against a 10-year-child); *cf. R.A.R.*, 148 Wis. 2d at 412 (noting that charging period of three single acts within three separate three-month periods was shorter than the time designated in *Fawcett*).

The fifth and sixth factors consider the time between the alleged act and criminal charges or proceedings. *Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d at 253. "[T]hese factors address the problem of dimmed memories and the possibility that the defendant may not be able to sufficiently recall or reconstruct the history regarding the allegations." *State v. Miller*, 2002 WI App 197, ¶35, 257 Wis. 2d 124, 650 N.W.2d 850.

In this case, the gap between the conduct alleged and the charge was a significant fifteen years. Cf. Fawcett, 145 Wis. 2d at 254 (charges immediately followed the charging period); R.A.R., 148 Wis. 2d at 412 (four- and five-year gaps between the alleged conduct and the charges supported, along with other factors, conclusion that the complaint was insufficiently definite). That said, given Fawcett's requirement for a flexible approach to evaluating complaints in child-victim cases based on a child's typical reluctance to immediately report abuse, the weight of these factors in Kempainen's favor should be lessened given that there is evidence that Kempainen had some role in the delay in reporting: LRT and Kempainen had stepdaughter-stepfather a relationship. Further, LRT claims that shortly after the alleged act, Kempainen asked LRT, who was then eight years old, not to disclose the abuse, or else he (or she) would get into trouble with her mother.

The seventh factor addresses LRT's ability to particularize the date and time of the alleged offense. *Miller*, 257 Wis. 2d 124, ¶36. Here, the circuit court considered simply LRT's ability to identify the relevant time period of the alleged assaults (32:19-20; A-Ap. 120-21). That approach is too narrow, given that courts have considered facts beyond the ability of the victim to particularize the dates alleged. For example, in *Miller*, which involved a complaint alleging 30 to 40 assaults of a child over a four-year period, this court noted that despite not providing precise dates and times of the abuse, the victim notably *was* able to describe "the sexual contact in detail" and to narrow down the occurrences to his therapy

appointments within the four-year period. *Miller*, 257 Wis. 2d 124, ¶36.

Here, LRT likewise could not provide specific dates as to the abuse, but was able to describe the sexual contact in detail—including the approximate time of day of the assault and Kempainen's actions leading up to and after it—and was able to narrow the period of time in count one down to the four-month period marking the beginning of her second-grade year and her family's recent move to a new house (1:2; A-Ap. 102). In light of that, this factor does not support the conclusion that the allegations were not sufficiently definite.

Taken together, only the combined fifth and sixth factors arguably favor Kempainen's claim. That said, a long interval between the conduct and the charges does not alone render charges insufficiently definite. *R.A.R.*, 148 Wis. 2d at 412. Further, unlike in *R.A.R.*, where there was no evidence relative to the seventh factor presented, *id.*, the other factors here favor the determination that the complaint is sufficiently definite. Furthermore, the circuit court's application and conclusion did not comport with the rationale set forth in *Fawcett. Accord* 145 Wis. 2d at 254 ("The vagaries of a child's memory more properly go to the credibility of the witness and the weight of the testimony rather than to the legality of the prosecution in the first instance.").

Hence, the circuit court's conclusion that the complaint was insufficiently definite as to count one was erroneous and should be reversed.

2. The allegations in count two likewise are sufficiently definite.

Count two alleged one act within a three-and-a-half month period. Similar to count one, that ratio again is within the bounds of ratios found to be reasonable. *See*, *e.g.*, *Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d at 254 (two alleged acts within

six-month period against a 10-year-child); *cf. R.A.R.*, 148 Wis. 2d at 412 (noting that charging period of three single acts within three separate three-month periods was shorter than the time designated in *Fawcett*).

The fifth and sixth factors indicate an eleven-and-a-half-year period between the alleged conduct and the charges. As noted above, this is a substantial period. Unlike the first count, there is no evidence that Kempainen specifically confronted LRT after the abuse and asked her to not report it. That said, the stepfather-stepdaughter relationship at that time suggests why LRT did not immediately disclose the abuse and somewhat mitigates the impact of this factor.

Further, as for the seventh factor, LRT again was able to recount specific details of the abuse: It occurred shortly before 4:30 p.m. when she was supposed to awaken Kempainen for his work shift; it occurred on a bed in the attic where he slept while she watched Disney on television; and Kempainen awoke early, began rubbing her back, and then moved his hands across her front and felt her breasts. Although LRT could not pin down an exact date for the assault other than her sixth-grade year while it was warm outside, she was able to provide specific details of the allegations and the who, what, when, where, and how required.

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