RECEIVED

11-18-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2013AP1531-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

BRIAN S. KEMPAINEN,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF AN ORDER AND DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II, REVERSING AN ORDER DISMISSING TWO CRIMINAL COUNTS ENTERED IN THE SHEBOYGAN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TERRENCE T. BOURKE, PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

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

In October 2012, the boyfriend told L.T.'s mother of L.T.'s claims of Kempainen's abuse (1:3; Pet-Ap. 117). Soon after her mother confronted her, L.T. admitted the abuse to her mother and police (*id.*).

As the court of appeals noted, the complaint explains that L.T. did not immediately report the abuse to her mother or authorities because she was afraid her mother would be angry with her and with Kempainen. *Kempainen*, slip op. ¶17. Those were understandable concerns in light of her claims that Kempainen had told her after the first incident that she was "bad" and that he would get in trouble if her mother knew. Further, the complaint underscored the reasonableness of L.T.'s concerns about her mother's potential reactions: when L.T. finally told her mother of the abuse, her mother confronted Kempainen in a manner that led to her arrest for disorderly conduct.

Also, the allegations here detailed two separate acts, not a continuous course of conduct. Although a continuous course of repeated acts would further support the conclusion that it was reasonable that L.T. could not recall specific dates, the fact that this case involves only two single acts does not stand for the converse notion that L.T. should have remembered the dates of these two incidents. Again, given L.T.'s age at the time of the assaults, Kempainen's position of dominance as stepfather, Kempainen's remarks to her after the first assault, the fear and trauma she stated she experienced from the assaults, and evidence that L.T. felt some responsibility for the assaults, it is understandable that L.T. could not remember the exact dates.

As the above analysis indicates, a consideration of L.T.'s age and intelligence, the surrounding circumstances, and the nature of the offenses alleged provide important details as to what information the State had reasonably available to it in investigating the crime and forming the charges. In light of L.T.'s ages at the times of the assaults and her reasonable reluctance to report them, neither the State nor L.T. could reasonably narrow the dates of the occurrences further. Additionally, in light of Kempainen's position of dominance over L.T. and statements to her after the first assault, Kempainen played a role in the delay. Accordingly, the first three factors suggest that the State framed the charges as narrowly as possible.

Finally, factor seven also supports the conclusion that the charges were adequately narrow. While L.T. understandably could not recall the precise dates of the alleged assaults, she did provide vivid detail as to the approximate time of a particular year, the times of day, and what happened before, during, and after the assaults. The depth of those details supports the conclusion that the State adequately notified Kempainen of what crimes he allegedly committed and when.

B. The fourth, fifth, and sixth factors require consideration of the first three factors and the impact on defenses available to the defendant.

Under the reasonableness test, the fourth factor asks the court to consider the length of the charging period in relation to the number of criminal acts alleged. *Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d at 253. The fifth and sixth factors address the duration of time between the alleged crime and arrest and indictment, respectively. ¹⁹ *Id.* at 253.

Courts need clarification on how to apply these factors. Currently, courts—including the circuit court in this case—tend to weigh long charging periods and delays automatically in a defendant's favor. That approach is inappropriate, given the flexibility required for child sexual assault cases and the expansions in applicable statutes of limitation. Rather, in weighing these three factors, courts should (1) consider and balance their analysis of the first three (plus seventh) factors and (2) consider whether the charging period or delay in charging actually prejudiced defendant by preventing him from asserting an otherwise reasonably available defense.

¹⁹ Factors five and six are largely redundant; courts have generally considered them as a single factor. *See*, *e.g.*, *Kempainen*, slip op. at ¶11; *Miller*, 257 Wis. 2d at 145; *R.A.R.*, 148 Wis. 2d at 412. To the extent that this court is reviewing the individual factors and their application, this court may consider merging these factors into a single factor discussing the duration between the alleged time of the crime(s) and charges.

1. Courts currently tend to find that multimonth charging periods and delays favor the defendant's position.

Generally, courts applying factors four, five, and six have done so simply by comparing the challenged complaint's charging periods and delays with the corresponding numbers in other cases involving notice challenges. But those types of comparisons provide limited perspective at best. In Wisconsin, there are only a few published cases—Fawcett, R.A.R.Miller. Kempainen—available for such comparison. Such limited comparisons can lead courts to develop bright-line standards for how long is too long, instead taking into account circumstances that may explain or excuse lengthy charging periods or delays.

Depending on the circumstances, a charging period of one month may fail notice requirements in one case, whereas a significantly longer charging period may be sufficient in another. Likewise, an accused defending charges filed a dozen years after the alleged acts may be no worse off in pleading and presenting a defense than one charged shortly after the alleged incident.

Finally, courts have reflexively weighed what they perceive to be broad charging periods and long delays in favor of the defendant and have found that notice was inadequate. See, e.g., R.A.R., 148 Wis. 2d at 412; accord Miller, 257 Wis. 2d 124, ¶35 (stating that factors referencing delay "address the problem of dimmed memories and the

possibility that the defendant may not be able to sufficiently recall or reconstruct the history regarding the allegations"). Indeed, the circuit court here, in concluding that Kempainen was deprived of notice, appeared to heavily weigh in his favor the long delay in reporting (32:16-17).

2. Courts' current approach ignores the flexibility mandated in child sexual assault cases and broader statutes of limitations.

First, the courts' current approach ignores the analysis under the first three (plus seventh) factors and the mandate that notice requirements should receive greater flexibility in child sexual assault cases. The court's analysis under the first three factors can go a long way to explain why the State could not narrow the charging period down further and why the delay in charging was as long as it was, including what role the defendant may have had in discouraging the victim from reporting. As noted above, given the totality of circumstances considered under the first three (plus seventh) factors, a relatively long charging delay may be reasonable (or and unreasonable) depending on the victim's age and intelligence, the surrounding circumstances, and the nature of the offense.

Second, the courts' purely mathematical approach to factors four through six may potentially limit the State's authority to prosecute charges of child sexual assault where the reporting was significantly delayed, when the legislature has greatly expanded that authority

since the court of appeals decided Fawcett and R.A.R.

For example, when the crimes charged against R.A.R. allegedly occurred and when R.A.R. was decided, a six-year statute of limitations applied for all felonies, including child sexual assault. See Wis. Stat. § 939.74(1) (1981-82); id. (1985-86). But by the time the crimes charged Kempainen allegedly occurred, the legislature had dramatically expanded the statute of limitations to allow charges in 1997 to be filed "before the victim reaches the age of 26 years." Wis. Stat. § 939.74(2)(c) (1995-96). In 2001, it was expanded to "before the victim reaches the age of 31 years." Wis. Stat. § 939.74(2)(c) (1999-2000). By the time the State filed the complaint against Kempainen in 2012, charges could be brought at any time "before the victim reaches the age of 45 years." Wis. Stat. § 939.74(2)(c) (2011-12).

Thus, unlike the legal landscape when the court of appeals decided *Fawcett* and *R.A.R.*, the State may legally file charges of child sexual assault decades after the crime allegedly occurred. Yet if the fifth and sixth factors are understood to weigh heavily against the State whenever there is a long hiatus between the alleged offense and issuance of the complaint, it will be exceedingly difficult—if not impossible—to prosecute decadesold sexual assaults.

To that end, if courts continue to simply compare delays and charging periods to those in older cases such as R.A.R., it is unlikely that the State will be able to narrow the charging period from the three months found impermissible in R.A.R. to a shorter period, especially where it took

the victim years to come forward with the accusations. This inability is natural and expected, given that evidence helping to pinpoint the actual dates of a child sexual assault committed decades earlier—such as calendars, diaries and employment records—will normally be less readily available than if the crime was reported shortly after its occurrence, which was the situation in both *Fawcett* and *Morris*.

3. Courts should also consider whether the charging period and delay prejudiced the defendant.

Admittedly, the expanded statutes of limitation considerations under the first three and reasonableness factors do not eliminate defendant's constitutional right to notice. But whether due process requires dismissal of longdelayed charges of child sexual assault over charging periods should also incorporate an assessment of whether the charging period and delay actually prejudiced the defendant's ability to plead and prepare a defense.

Indeed, this court has incorporated such an assessment in *Sorenson*, 143 Wis. 2d at 253.²⁰ In that case, Sorenson alleged a lack of sufficient specificity to a charge of child sexual assault alleged to have occurred during a six-week period shortly before the young victim reported the assault. *Id.* at 233, 253. This court denied Sorenson relief, in part because Sorenson was not

²⁰ This court decided *Sorenson* shortly before the court of appeals endorsed the reasonableness test in *Fawcett*.

"in fact impeded in the preparation of his defense" by the State's designating a charging period instead of a specific date. *Id.* at 254; see also Gutenkunst v. State, 218 Wis. 96, 104, 259 N.W. 610 (1935) (no prejudice based on month-long charging period; the witness's failure to recall an exact day may go to credibility rather than barring the prosecution).

More recently, this court similarly observed that a defendant claiming a due process violation based on a delay in prosecution must demonstrate prejudice. *State v. McGuire*, 2010 WI 91, ¶¶44-56, 328 Wis. 2d 289, 786 N.W.2d 227. In *McGuire*, the State charged McGuire in 2005 with five counts of indecent behavior with a child occurring between 1966 and 1968. *Id.* ¶1. McGuire claimed that the State violated his due process rights because the 36-year passage of time between the alleged offenses and charges of child sexual assault "prejudiced his defense because critical witnesses died and evidence was destroyed." *Id.* ¶44.

In denying relief, this court explained that "[t]he statute of limitations is the principal device . . . to protect against prejudice arising from a lapse of time between the date of an alleged offense and an arrest." *Id.* ¶45 (citations omitted). This court then observed that a defendant claiming that a delay in charging violated his due process rights "must show '(1) actual prejudice as a result of [the] delay; and (2) [that] the delay arose out of an improper purpose, [such as to] give the State a tactical advantage over the defendant." *Id.* (citation omitted).

Thus, under *Sorenson* and *McGuire*, to obtain outright dismissal of child sexual assault charges, a defendant must demonstrate actual prejudice, i.e., that the expansive charging period or delay in reporting prevented him from preparing a defense otherwise reasonably available to him. That consideration should be part of Wisconsin's reasonableness test.²¹

If it is not, the result will be extreme: Wisconsin courts will dismiss charges when the State did not deny the defendant's right to present

Other jurisdictions evaluating notice requirements consider whether the defendant demonstrated that the charging period or delay prejudiced his ability to plead and present a defense. See, e.g., Baldonado, 955 P.2d at 221 (holding that even if court finds that charges are not reasonably particular, the court "must then look to see if the [d]efendant is prejudiced by that failure").

Many of those jurisdictions have observed that in cases involving a defendant who lived with the victim, the defendant generally asserts a credibility defense, which does not depend on a specific date, and would not likely have defenses that could be affected by a charging period or delay—such as alibi, identity, or lack of access—available to him. See, e.g., Covington v. State, 703 P.2d 436, 439 (Alaska Ct. App. 1985) (blanket denial of abuse was not affected by charging periods of one to eleven months where the defendant lived with the victim); People v. Jones, 792 P.2d 643, 657 (Cal. 1990) (noting that alibi or wrongful identity defenses were unlikely to be available where the defendant lived with the alleged victim for a long period of time and had continued access); Naugle, 393 N.W.2d at 596 (observing that the defendant's assertion of an alibi defense was "specious" where the defendant lived in the same house with the victim over an extended period and the victim was often alone with him); State v. Wilcox, 808 P.2d 1028, 1033 (Utah 1991) (doubting availability of alibi defense where the defendant had continuous contact with the victim during half of the 32-month charging period).

a defense. A defendant who could not have used a shorter offense period or could not have benefitted from more contemporaneous charges in preparing a defense should not be able to claim that a longer offense period or delay denied his due process right to prepare a defense. *Cf. Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 481 (1972) ("(D)ue process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands").

Accordingly, this court should clarify that Wisconsin courts should not engage in mathematical comparisons under factors four through six. Instead, courts should weigh these factors with their findings from the first three factors (plus the seventh) to determine whether the State could have narrowed the charging period further, whether the time alleged is reasonable, and whether the defendant has a reasonably available defense that is impacted by the charging period or delay in charging.

4. Factors four through six support the conclusion that Kempainen received adequate notice.

As for the charging periods, count one alleged one act within a four-month period that L.T. recalled had occurred in the beginning of her second-grade school year in 1997. Likewise, count two alleged one act within a three-and-a-half month period in 2001 (1:1; Pet-Ap. 115). L.T. reported the assaults in 2012, roughly fifteen years after the alleged period in count one and

eleven years after the alleged period in count two.²²

Under an analysis of the first three factors, there is nothing to suggest that L.T. or the State could have narrowed the charging period further or that the delay in reporting was unreasonable.

²² To the extent that it is relevant and appropriate to compare these periods to those in other cases, the three-and-a-half- and four-month time periods do not appear facially to be excessive. *See, e.g., Fawcett,* 145 Wis. 2d at 254 (two alleged acts within six-month period against a 10-year-child). Further, those periods are not beyond the pale compared to charging periods allowed by other state courts. *See, e.g., Vernier v. State,* 909 P.2d 1344, 1350-52 (Wyo. 1996) (finding that charging periods of sixty days for act allegedly committed seventeen years earlier and ninety days for act allegedly committed ten years earlier were sufficient).

Similarly, federal courts have determined that notice was constitutionally sufficient in child abuse prosecutions featuring broad charging periods:

This Court and numerous others have found that fairly large time windows in the context of child abuse prosecutions are not in conflict with constitutional notice requirements. See Isaac v. Grider, 2000 WL 571959 at *5 (four months); Madden v. Tate, 1987 WL 44909, at *1-*3 (6th Cir. 1987) (six months); see also . . . Hunter v. New Mexico, 916 F.2d 595, 600 (10th Cir. 1990) (three years); Parks v. Hargett, 1999 WL 157431, at *4 (10th Cir. 1999) (seventeen months).

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